IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

NO. 72809-1-I

DANIEL THOMPSON and THEODORE MISSELWITZ

Appellants,

v.

CITY OF MERCER ISLAND,

Respondents,

ANDERSON ARCHITECTURE,

Applicant,

ON THE ROCK,

Owner, Additional Parties pursuant to RCW 36.70C.040(2)(b)-(d)

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Daniel P. Thompson Thompson and Delay 506 Second Avenue, Suite 2500 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 622-0670 Appellant and Attorney for Appellant Misselwitz

II. INTRODUCTION

The following arguments made in this brief are in the alternative should the Court of Appeals decide the trial court's order does not need to be vacated for absence of an indispensable party. The other issue the petitioners face is that although the motions and order of dismissal were filed under CR 12(b) with three court days notice they are based upon and reference the underlying record. Therefore, the petitioners feel some obligation to attempt to prove the legitimacy of the statements in their 24 page single spaced petition found at CP 1-24.

This case involves preliminary approval of a subdivision on Mercer Island, SUB 13-008 (subdivision, year, sequential number of

subdivision application). The City's February 3, 2014 preliminary approval begins at CP 117, and the pre-administrative hearing staff report begins at CP 107. The Planning Commission's Decision and Order dated July 28, 2014 can be found at CP 25-27. Petitioners Thompson and Misselwitz are adjacent landowners to the proposed subdivision. The trial court granted OTR's and the City's motions to dismiss Thompson's LUPA petition under CR 12(b) on the basis he failed to allege "actual harm". CP 1577. The trial court dismissed Misselwitz' petition under CR12(b) on the basis that although Misselwitz participated in the open record appeal hearing Misselwitz' failure to file his own separate administrative appeal and pay the \$837 appeal fee prevented Misselwitz from having standing to appeal to the superior court. CP 1577.

The City and OTR concede the LUPA petition was timely filed and served, all available administrative remedies were exhausted by Thompson, and a "Land Use Decision" was issued pursuant to RCW

¹ LEGEND:

¹⁾ Clerk's papers, including the administrative record: CP_

²⁾ Verbatim Report of Proceedings of 10-31-14 superior court hearing RP

^{3) 7-23-14} transcript of administrative hearing before the Mercer Island Planning Commission. CP

⁴⁾ Property owner: On The Rock (OTR)

⁵⁾ Applicant: Anderson Architecture (Applicant)

⁶⁾ City of Mercer Island: City

36.70C.020(2). Therefore the trial court was vested with subject matter jurisdiction.

The motions to dismiss were filed under LCR 12(b). The trial court must presume petitioner's allegations to be true, and only dismiss if it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that no facts justifying recovery exist. The inquiry should begin--and end--with the petition found at CP 1-24, although the court may consider hypothetical facts not part of the formal record. Since the motions to dismiss were actually based on the record, and the order of dismissal was actually based upon the record, the motions to dismiss required 28 days notice under LCR 7(b), LCR 12(b), CR 12(b) and CR 56(c).

Dismissal of Misselwitz' petition was error. Both OTR and the City do not assert that SUB13-008 will not cause Misselwitz injury in fact. The basis of the trial court's order holding that only the administrative appellant has standing to appeal to the superior court from an open record hearing is contrary to state and local law, and contrary to the specific notice of the open record hearing mailed to Misselwitz and Thompson. CP 1413 (public notice); 1415-1416; 1405-1407 (staff analysis), title 19 of the Mercer Island Comprehensive Code 19.15.020(J) Appeals, appendix Exh. 5: 16-17 ("MICC"), LUPA, R.C.W. 58.17.180, R.C.W. 36.70B.110 No case holds that only the administrative appellant has standing under LUPA

to appeal from an open record appeal hearing. Furthermore, local and state law hold that no matter how many administrative appeals are filed, there can be only one open record hearing and one final land use decision. RCW 36.70B.120(2); MICC 19.15.020(F)(1) Appendix Exh. 5:12.

Both OTR and the City concede Thompson exhausted his administrative remedies and obtained a final land use decision, CP 61:11-24; CP 85:17-19; RP 23:24-24:3, but argue that Thompson, unlike Misselwitz who is also an adjacent land owner, will not suffer the same injury in fact as Misselwitz, or any injury. Thompson is an adjacent property owner who alleges that the preliminary approval of the subdivision will injure his property. See Decl. of Thompson, CP 1391-1397; p. 1396 para. 13; RP 39:8-40:6. See also, Summary of Thompson's requested relief CP 1124-1127; notice of administrative appeal, CP 221-230; Brief of Administrative Appellant CP 347-385, exhibit index CP 386-395. Therefore, his alleged injury is immediate and specific, and it was error to dismiss his petition under CR 12(b) for a failure to allege "actual harm."

The Mercer Island Planning Commission's decision was not unanimous. CP 1453, p. 110:19-22; CP 1450 p. 97:20-100:25. In fact, during the administrative hearing for SUB 13-008 the Planning Commission passed a motion prohibiting the use of "Tract X's" in any

future subdivisions on Mercer Island. CP 1453, p. 110:23-CP 1461, p. 137:22 (hearing transcript); CP 1463 (minutes of hearing)

As one Commissioner noted: "So the irony will be that we'll set a really good policy for the benefit of the future citizens, but the guy who contested over it loses out". CP 1457, p.124: 10-12.

Neither OTR nor the City raised lack of standing at the administrative level even though the privilege log shows the City Attorney and the City's outside counsel were actively involved in the case as early as October 24, 2013, CP 919, eight months before the July 23, 2014 administrative hearing (although Mr. Walter did not formally appear until the superior court, CP 43). Therefore, Thompson and Misselwitz must be afforded the opportunity, if necessary, to submit evidence outside the administrative record to establish standing, which is not possible in a CR 12(b) motion to dismiss.

When the LUPA petition is timely filed and served, all available administrative remedies have been exhausted, a final land use decision has been issued, the petitioners are adjacent land owners who allege injury to their property (and it is conceded one adjacent landowner will suffer injury in fact) and the defense of lack of standing was not raised at the administrative level, dismissal under CR 12(b) is error.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred when it granted the motions to dismiss the LUPA petition under CR 12(b), CP 1575, and when it denied petitioners' motion for reconsideration. CP 1640.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. There was an irregularity in the proceedings by allowing dispositive motions on the record to be noted six court days before the hearing that prejudiced petitioners.
- 2. The trial court's order dismissing Misselwitz' petition for failing to exhaust administrative remedies under MICC 19.15.020(J) and R.C.W 36.70B.120 on the basis only the administrative appellant has standing to appeal to the superior court from an open record hearing is an error of law.
- 3. The trial court's order dismissing Thompson's petition due to an absence of "actual harm" is an error of law under a CR 12(b) standard of review.
- 4. The trial court's order dismissing of Thompson's and Misselwitz' petitions without affording either an opportunity to submit evidence of standing outside the administrative record is an error of law because lack of standing was not raised at the administrative level.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedure before the Superior Court

The initial hearing on jurisdictional and preliminary matters was originally set under the civil case schedule for October 3, 2014. CP 30.² However, based upon the trial court's schedule the trial court rescheduled the initial hearing for October 31, 2014. On September 23 the City and OTR emailed the trial court stating each would be filing motions to dismiss on jurisdictional and standing issues. CP 1548. On the afternoon of October 23, 2014 OTR and the City filed their motions to dismiss. CP 54; 73. On the same afternoon of October 23, 2014, the City filed the 1213 page administrative record ("AR"), CP 101-102, and 116 page administrative hearing transcript.³ CP 1258 although each were not required to be filed under the civil case schedule until November 17, 2014. CP 30. As noted in the declaration of service, the petitioners were served late in the afternoon on October 23, 2014 with an electronic copy of the administrative record, which had been remarked, and which obviously had

² RCW 36.70C.080(1) requires the preliminary hearing to be set between 35 and 50 days of the service of the LUPA petition. The LUPA petition was served August 14, 2014. The October 31, 2014 hearing was 79 days after the filing of the petition.

³ The actual hearing transcript is 137 pages and can be found at CP 1426-1461. Although the petitioner was required to pay for transcribing the administrative hearing, and pursuant to RCW 36.70C110(1) petitioner is to file the transcribed hearing record, the City insisted on filing the transcript and only filed pages 1-113 of the transcript. CP 1259-1371. Pages 113-137 of the hearing transcript document the Planning Commission's discussion and motion to prohibit "Tract X" in any future subdivisions. CP 1455-1461.

been made available to the City, OTR, and the Applicant well in advance in order to prepare their motions to dismiss which were filed and served before the administrative record. CP 100. See, Decl. of Thompson, CP 1392, para 3 noting the motions were filed and served before the administrative record.

King County's civil case schedule for LUPA petitions states:

"Motions on jurisdictional and procedural issues shall comply with Civil

Rule 7 and King County Local Rule 7, except that the minimum notice of hearing requirement shall be 8 days." CP 29.

The parties in emails to the trial court disputed whether notice pursuant to the civil case schedule for jurisdictional motions under LCR 7 should be eight days or six day's notice, CP 1614-1616; 1542-1550, and the petitioners objected to the timeliness of the motions, and the submission of the administrative record and administrative hearing transcript three court days before petitioners' responses to the motions to dismiss were due under LCR 7(b)(1). CP 1376-1377. The court denied all of the parties' preliminary motions to strike. RP 3:14-24.

On October 31, 2014 a hearing was held before the trial court. On November 7, 2014 the trial court signed the City's proposed order granting OTR's and the City's motions to dismiss petitioners' LUPA petitions. CP 1575.

The order notes the trial court struck the post-oral argument supplemental pleadings (petitioners had submitted a statement of supplemental authorities addressing legal issues raised at the hearing, CP 1562). The order notes the trial court considered the administrative record and administrative hearing transcript. The order states:

"(2) Petitioner Daniel Thompson lacks standing ["absent actual harm" as interlineated by the Court] under, inter alia, RCW 36.70C.060(2); (3) Petitioner Theodore Misselwitz failed to exhaust required administrative remedies under the Mercer Island City Code (MICC 19.15.020(J)) as required by RCW 36.70C.020(2) and RCW 36.70C.060; (4) for the foregoing reasons the Court lacks jurisdiction under RCW 36.70C.020 to adjudicate Petitioners' claims in the LUPA Petition.

CP 1576:16-21.

Petitioners filed a motion for reconsideration with attachments, again objecting to the procedure. CP 1581-1605.

On December 1, 2014 the trial court issued its order denying the motion for reconsideration stating:

This matter came before the undersigned Court on Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's November 7, 2014 order. The Court considered the motion, attachments 1-4, all filed materials; the motion is DENIED.

CP 1640.

B. Preliminary Approval of SUB 13-008

The land use determination that is the subject of this appeal is regulated under the Title 19 the Unified Land Development Code, Mercer Island Comprehensive Code ("MICC"), and the City's Comprehensive Plan pursuant to the Growth Management Act.

Petitioners' declaration in support of response to motions to dismiss sets forth the history with attachments. CP 1391. An outline of the relief requested at the administrative level is in CP 1467-1470.

Petitioner's brief to the Planning Commission is at CP 347.

SUB 13-008 is a new three parcel short plat replacing an existing two lot short plat SUB 08-009⁴ in a R-12 zone on Mercer Island. See Preliminary Approval, CP 117-134; plat map CP 138. The amended short plat creates three parcels: two lots, and "Tract X". Tract X is not a road or easement but a strip of the easement and is approximately 6' of the required 18' width. CP 122-123. Tract X is to be jointly owned by the two lots. Tract X is approximately 6 ft. wide, and runs adjacent to the easement for the length of the easement for approximately 180 ft. It is 100%

ID 09 000 is some

⁴ SUB 08-009 is commonly misidentified throughout the record as SUB 09-008. Although SUB 08-009 was filed in September 2008, it was not finally recorded until February 11 2011. OTR had agreed to purchase the property in January 2011 .Part of this confusion may be due to the fact the initial application filed in September 2008 differs significantly from the public notice of application issued on November 17, 2009 that increased gross area of the property from 26,080 sf to 27,432 sf. This is discussed at length in Thompson's declaration. CP 1393-1395.

impervious surface. The width of Tract X is included in the overall width of the easement to comply with the required easement width for vehicular access. Tract X does not meet the area or dimension requirements for a lot in R-12. Id.

The MICC regulates the size of houses in three key ways: 1)

Different areas of the City have different minimum net lot area required to build, e.g. R-12,000 MICC, 19.01.040 appendix Exh. 1:2; 2) the relationship of the gross area of the house to the lot size, MICC 19.02.010(E) appendix Exh. 2:9; and 3) the maximum amount of allowable impervious surface, which includes foundations MICC 19.02.020(D) appendix Exh 2:13. For each extra square foot of foundation area there can be a corresponding increase in house square footage *for each story*.

The MICC also increases the necessary width of easements depending on the number of houses served by the easement. MICC 19.09.040(A) appendix Exh. 4:4-5. The easement is considered 100% impervious surface. MICC 19.16.010 (definition of impervious surface). Appendix Exh. 6:12. The impervious area of the easement is then counted against the subservient lot upon which the easement traverses. This rule is explained in DSG policy memorandum #07-05, appendix Exh. 8.

DSG Policy Memorandum Administrative Interpretation #07-05 was enacted June 1, 2007. It defines whether the area within an access easement is to be included in the area of the lot used for the purpose of calculating compliance with impervious surface coverage limitations.

Based on the finding that it is appropriate to refer to the general definition of "lot" which would include the entire area of "a designated parcel, tract or area of land established by plat, subdivision, or as otherwise permitted by law to be used, developed or built on as a unit", the administrative interpretation concluded that the entire area of the lot was included in the impervious surface calculation, and that under MICC 19.02.020 (D)(1) any driveway or other impervious surface within such easement must be included as impervious surface.

So, the purpose of Tract X is to remove the area of impervious surface in Tract X from the easement and from counting against lot 1 since it is not an "easement" but a separate non-conforming legal parcel that is "jointly owned." CP 122-123. Therefore the house on lot 1 can be much larger than the code would otherwise allow.

The assigned planner Travis Saunders and Commissioner McCann discussed this issue at the administrative hearing:

COMMISSIONER

MCCANN:

Two lots and this Tract X disappeared the covered surface belongs to the upper lot,

15

what would the ramification be for the architectural plan, smaller house?

MR. SAUNDERS:

So if I understand you correctly, if this road

access were an easement, all on an

easement, not a tract and an easement, what would be the detriment to the upland lot, as

far as impervious surfaces, right?

COMMISSIONER

MCCANN:

Yeah.

MR. SAUNDERS:

So it would be twofold, and it would be that it, the road area would be counted against the lot coverage calculations. So if they had 1,000 square feet of ingress-egress easement, that is subtracted right off the top of their buildable, impervious surface on

that lot.

COMMISSIONER

MCCANN:

So you'd end up with a lot less than 12,000

feet?

MR. SAUNDERS:

Well, yeah, your house. Yeah, yeah.

COMMISSIONER

MCCANN:

So the house would be smaller?

MR. SAUNDERS:

The house and the appurtenances would have to be smaller because of that additional

1,000 square feet.

CP 1445, P: 80:25 – CP 1446, 81:19.

Counsel for OTR argued that although "this case is not about the merits of the appeal" (RP 24: 12) "there is some necessity to look at the

impacts of the proposal in order to determine whether or not a particular party has standing" (RP 24: 12-15). The following exchange occurred:

THE COURT:

So in layman's terms, what is the point?

MR LELL:

The point is to maximize the future development

potential of the property and to eliminate the

inefficiencies of the original design.

THE COURT:

And how does that do that?

Mr. LELL:

It takes the impervious surface calculation—

THE COURT:

What does that mean? What do you mean?

Mr. LELL:

Impervious surface, Your Honor, is surface area that cannot percolate in and of itself. So things like hard roofs, asphalt services, overhangs, driveways, et cetera, under most local municipal codes and under the Mercer Island Municipal Code, each buildable lot has a maximum imperious surface

limitation.

And my client felt upon purchasing the property that the inefficient configuration of the 2009 short plat unnecessarily constrained the impervious surface limitation on one of the lots because all of the access easement driveway was going to be

allocated against that lot. So—

THE COURT:

So this is all to lay the groundwork for the future

construction?

MR. LELL:

Largely that's a correct premise, Your Honor. But as Your Honor can see in comparing these two site plans which is really at issue today, there really is no perceptible difference. In fact, I apologize in that the—even with the magnified, blown-up depiction, it's probably almost impossible for the Court to actuals see what has been changed. And that really

is reflective of the de minimis nature of the amendment effectuated by SUV 13-008.

RP 27:19-28:33

OTR in its motion to dismiss calculated the impervious surface removed from lot 1 by Tract X at 750 sf, which is applicable to each story. CP 56: ll 19-21.

The City issued Preliminary Approval for SUB 13-008 on February 3, 2014 including Tract X. CP 117-134. The preliminary approval of SUB 13-008 states that since Tract X is a Tract jointly owned by lots 1 and 2, the impervious surface in Tract X does not count against either lot. (It is not clear why the developer did not place all of the easement's impervious surface in Tract X). CP 122-123.

The preliminary approval states:

"Staff Response:

The purpose of Tract X is to provide ingress/egress to the subject lots. The applicant has proposed a combination of private easement across the upland lot and a tract in order to provide the required 16 feet wide access. Owners of lot 1 and lot 2 will share an equal ownership and maintenance and repair interest in Tract X. The land underlying the easement portion of the 16 feet wide access belongs to the upland lot. That portion crossing the upland lot will be included in the impervious surface area of the lot at the time of building permit. The Tract, while considered 100% impervious surface, is a jointly owned, maintained and repaired private roadway; the MICC does not regulate the

amount of impervious surface on private roadways when placed within a tract jointly owned by the properties of a subdivision. Both lots are subject to lot coverage maximums, pursuant to MICC 19.02.020(D).

CP 122-123: Preliminary Approval, p. 6, para. (2)(e).

(The required easement plus Tract X is actually 18' wide including a chimney drain and retaining wall CP 138).

The preliminary approval states a further basis for approval of Tract X is: "The proposal will make the lots more marketable, thus helping to satisfy the Comprehensive Plan's goals to help absorb population and housing growth" while at the same time maintaining the existing character of the neighborhood pursuant to Goal 8.2 of the Comprehensive Plan. CP 119-120.

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