FILED
August 24, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72809-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DANIEL THOMPSON and THEODORE MISSELWITZ,

Appellants,

VS.

CITY OF MERCER ISLAND,

Respondent,

ON THE ROCK, LLC and ANDERSON ARCHITECTURE,

Additional Parties.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF MERCER ISLAND

CITY OF MERCER ISLAND

KARI L. SAND, WSBA No. 27355
City Attorney
CHRISTINA M. SCHUCK
WSBA No. 44436
Assistant City Attorney
9611 SE 36th St
Mercer Island, WA 98040
(206) 275-7650
Attorneys for Respondent City of Mercer Island

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

3. ARGUMENT

3.1 Standard of Review on Appeal.

Appellate review of jurisdiction is de novo. Knight v. City of

<u>Yelm</u>, 173 Wn.2d 325, 336, 267 P.3d 973 (2011). Standing is jurisdictional. <u>Id</u>. The appellate court will not disturb the superior court's decision to dismiss absent a manifest abuse of discretion. <u>Escude v. King County Pub. Hosp. Dist.</u>, 117 Wn. App. 183, 190, 69 P.3d 895 (2003). "Abuse occurs when the ruling is manifestly unreasonable or when discretion was exercised on untenable grounds." <u>Id</u>.

3.2 The Motion to Dismiss Was Timely and Did Not Prejudice Thompson or Misselwitz.

The Legislature enacted the Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA") to establish "expedited appeal procedures" and uniform criteria for reviewing land use decisions "in order to provide consistent, predictable and timely judicial review." RCW 36.70C.010 (emphasis added). To accomplish its stated purpose, LUPA contains explicit procedures and timing requirements. Specifically, an initial hearing on jurisdictional and preliminary matters must be noted within seven days of service of the petition and must be set no later than fifty days after service of the petition. RCW 36.70C.080(1). Parties must "note all motions on jurisdictional and procedural issues for resolution at the initial hearing." RCW 36.70C.080(2). Importantly, the defense of lack of standing is waived if not raised by timely motion noted to be heard at the initial hearing. RCW 36.70C.080(3) (emphasis added).

The Case Schedule Order issued by the King County Superior Court Presiding Judge reflects state law's expedited review and timely appeal provisions. CP 28-30. The Case Schedule Order specifically states: "Motions on jurisdictional and procedural issues shall comply with Civil Rule 7 and King County Local Rule 7, except that the minimum notice of hearing requirement shall be 8 days." CP 29 (emphasis added).

Thompson and Misselwitz ask this Court to disregard the Case Schedule Order's clear direction regarding an eight day minimum notice requirement and to instead extend the notice requirement to 28 days. Although Thompson and Misselwitz cite to numerous Court Rules and King County Local Rules, they fail to provide any legal authority in support of their position that the Case Schedule Order should be disapproved. See Appellants' Brief at 35. An issue lacking adequate argument and supported by only conclusory statements should not be considered. See Amalgamated Transit v. State, 142 Wn.2d 183, 203, 11 P.3d 762 (2000).

More importantly, their position completely ignores the Case Schedule Order, which was signed by Thompson. The Case Schedule Order instructs all attorneys and parties to "make themselves familiar with the rules of the court—especially those referred to in this Schedule. In order to comply with the Schedule, it will be necessary for attorneys and

parties to pursue their appeals vigorously from the day they are filed." CP 28. The City filed and served its Motion to Dismiss on October 23rd, exactly eight days before the October 31st initial hearing. CP 101. Thompson acknowledges he was served on the same date. Appellants' Brief at 10. The City complied with the Case Schedule Order, and its Motion to Dismiss was timely.

Even if Thompson and Misselwitz were entitled to more notice than the Case Schedule Order specifies, Thompson and Misselwitz have failed to demonstrate a showing of prejudice. "A reviewing court will not reverse a lower court's ruling on the basis of an untimely filing absent a showing of prejudice." See Brown v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 94 Wn.2d 359, 364, 617 P.2d 704 (1980) (dealing with the time limits of CR 6(d)). When an appellant is able to present countervailing oral argument and submit case authority in response, there is no adequate showing of prejudice. Id. In response to the City's and On the Rock's Motions to Dismiss, Thompson and Misselwitz not only filed a Response, but they also included a "Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs for Responding to Frivolous Motions." CP 1374-1389. As a result, even assuming for the sake of argument that the City's motion complying with the Case Schedule Order was untimely, Thompson and Misselwitz cannot demonstrate prejudice.

3.3 Misselwitz Has No Standing Because He Failed to Exhaust Administrative Remedies.

LUPA, chapter 36.70C RCW, is the "exclusive means of judicial review of land use decisions." RCW 36.70C.030(1). Its purpose is to "establish uniform, expedited appeal procedures and uniform criteria for reviewing such decisions, in order to provide consistent, predictable, and timely judicial review." RCW 36.70C.010. LUPA prescribes specific and particular procedures and requirements that must be met before a trial court's appellate jurisdiction is properly invoked. <u>Jones v. The Town of Hunts Point</u>, 166 Wn. App. 452, 455, 272 P.3d 853 (2011). RCW 36.70C.060 details standing requirements and limits standing to bring a land use petition to the following persons:

- (1) The applicant and the owner of property to which the land use decision is directed;
- (2) Another person aggrieved or adversely affected by the land use decision, or who would be aggrieved or adversely affected by a reversal or modification of the land use decision. A person is aggrieved or adversely affected within the meaning of this section only when all of the following conditions are present:
- (a) The land use decision has prejudiced or is likely to prejudice that person;
- (b) That person's asserted interests are among those that the local jurisdiction was required to consider when it made the land use decision;
- (c) A judgment in favor of that person would substantially eliminate or redress the prejudice to that

person caused or likely to be caused by the land use decision; and

(d) The petitioner has exhausted his or her administrative remedies to the extent required by law.RCW 36.70C.060.

The standing requirement in LUPA is jurisdictional. <u>Knight</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 336. "Before a superior court may exercise its appellate jurisdiction, statutory procedural requirements must be satisfied. A court lacking jurisdiction must enter an order of dismissal." <u>Id.</u> at 337 (quoting Conom v. Snohomish County, 155 Wn.2d 154, 157, 118 P.3d 344 (2005)).

3.3.1 Misselwitz Failed to Participate in the Administrative Process to the Extent Required.

As an "aggrieved" person, and neither the property owner nor the applicant, Misselwitz must meet all four conditions enumerated in RCW 36.70C.060(2) to have standing, including exhausting administrative remedies to the extent required by law. RCW 36.70C.060(2)(d). Imposition of this standing requirement and limitation was a deliberate, logical and sensible action by the Legislature. Ward v. Board of County Comm'rs, 86 Wn. App. 266, 271, 936 P.2d 42 (1997). Because a land use petition has the potential to "aggrieve" many different people, the Legislature purposefully "confined the category of nonowners eligible to seek judicial review of such decisions to those who participated in the

administrative process to the extent allowed." <u>Id</u>. at 271-72 (emphasis added).

The exhaustion doctrine discourages individuals from ignoring administrative procedures and resorting to the courts prematurely. Nickum v. City of Bainbridge Island, 153 Wn. App. 366, 375, 223 P.3d 1172 (2009). Failure to exhaust administrative remedies is fatal to a LUPA petitioner. Id. at 371 (dismissal for lack of standing upheld when Nickums filed a late appeal to the city hearing examiner); see also Ward, 86 Wn. App. at 271 ("exhaustion of administrative remedies is a necessary prerequisite . . . whether the party is an owner, applicant or other aggrieved party"); Prekeges v. King County, 98 Wn. App. 275, 284, 990 P.2d 405 (1999) (failure to file a timely administrative appeal means party had no standing under LUPA and precludes judicial review of the decision).

Misselwitz failed to exhaust his administrative remedies because he never filed a timely administrative appeal. Misselwitz only participated in the administrative appeal before the Planning Commission as a party of record; he never became an appellant. The MICC details the requirements to become an appellant and appeal a decision. MICC 19.15.020(J). The approval of a preliminary short plat is classified as an "administrative action" with the code official given the authority to grant approval. MICC

19.15.010(E). The Planning Commission hears appeals of a preliminary short plat approval. <u>Id</u>. Any party of record may file a letter of appeal with the city clerk within 14 days after the notice of decision. MICC 19.15.020(J)(1). The appeal must contain all of the following: (1) the decision being appealed; (2) the appellant's name and address and his/her interest in the matter; (3) the specific reasons the appellant believes the decision is wrong; (4) the desired outcome or changes to the decision; and (5) the appeal fee. MICC 19.15.020(J)(2). Misselwitz met none of these requirements. He did not file an appeal with the city clerk, he did not pay a fee, he did not give any specific reasons he believed the decision was wrong. Consequently, he failed to exhaust his administrative remedies. Misselwitz makes no argument to the contrary.

Misselwitz also did not participate at the appeal hearing before the Planning Commission to the extent allowed. The MICC specifies the rules of procedure for appeal hearings. MICC 19.15.020(J)(5). Equal time for oral argument is allotted to appellants and applicants. When there are multiple parties on either side, time may be allocated between the parties themselves or the parties may designate a spokesperson. MICC 19.15.020(J)(5)(c). Misselwitz spoke at the open record hearing and was allotted three minutes. CP 1312-14. He and Thompson did not allocate time between themselves, nor did they request coordination with the Chair

of the Planning Commission. CP 1312-14. Misselwitz simply read a letter on the record. CP 1312:10 – 1314:15. This brief participation at the open record appeal hearing before the Planning Commission did not make Misselwitz an appellant, nor can it be considered participating in the administrative process to the fullest extent allowed.

Misselwitz contends that the language on the "Planning Commission's Written Findings/Conclusions/Decisions" means Misselwitz has standing as a simple party of record. Appellants' Brief at 37. The "Planning Commission's Written Findings/Conclusions/Decisions" "Pursuant states: to **MICC** 19.15.020(J)(5)(g) and RCW 36.70C, an appeal to the City's final decision may be filed in King County Superior Court by a party of record with standing." CP 105 (emphasis added). RCW 36.70C is clear—a person has no standing if s/he has not exhausted all administrative remedies.

Misselwitz further claims "the notice of open record hearing states <u>participation</u> at the hearing confers standing." Appellants' Brief at 37. Although Misselwitz cites the City's notice of appeal form correctly, the form itself clearly contravenes LUPA requirements. Tellingly, Misselwitz focuses his entire argument on language from the City's notice of appeal form and gives only passing reference to the state law governing land use appeals. State law prevails over the City's notice form. At no time does

Misselwitz include or discuss the material portions of the actual statute at issue, RCW 36.70C.060, despite the superior court's order ruling "Petitioner Theodore Misselwitz failed to exhaust required administrative remedies under the Mercer island [sic] City Code (MICC 19.15.020(J)), as required by RCW 36.70C.020(2) and RCW 36.70C.060; for the foregoing reasons the Court lacks jurisdiction under RCW 36.70C.020 to adjudicate Petitioner's claims in the LUPA petition . . . ". CP 1577 (emphasis added). Misselwitz also provides no relevant authority for his alternative arguments that as a simple party of record, he either exhausted his administrative remedies or did not need to in order to have standing. Both arguments fail based on RCW 36.70C.020.

Misselwitz also seems to argue that because LUPA does not make a distinction between an administrative appellant and a later person who intervened or joined, Misselwitz did not need to be an appellant. Appellants' Brief at 41. Thompson and Misselwitz claim *Jones v. The Town of Hunts Point*, allowed "an individual who was not the applicant nor the appellant below to substitute as the LUPA petitioner." Appellants' Brief at 41. This assertion mischaracterizes the *Jones* case. *Jones* involved an application by spouses Marianne and Patrick Jones to subdivide their lot. 166 Wn. App. at 454. The application was rejected by the town engineer because of a restriction on the face of the plat. <u>Id</u>.

Marianne and Patrick appealed to the Town's hearing examiner and lost. Id. Patrick alone filed a land use petition. Id. He did not name Marianne, but he included a declaration from her stating she intended to abandon her appeal and had quitclaimed her interest in the property to Patrick. Id. Hunts Point argued Patrick had failed to name Marianne as a necessary party and violated RCW 36.70C.040(b)(ii), which requires each person (if not the petitioner) identified by name and address in the local jurisdiction's written decision as an owner of the property to be served. Id. at 455. The court disagreed, ruling "there is no compelling reason to require dismissal of a lawsuit for failure to name as a party a person who no longer wishes to participate in the matter." Id. at 456. This case is inapposite and does not support Misselwitz's position.

3.3.2 Misselwitz Cannot Obtain Standing Vicariously through Thompson's Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies.

Misselwitz also cannot gain standing vicariously through Thompson's exhaustion of administrative remedies. Misselwitz seems to argue that since Thompson was an appellant at the Planning Commission and exhausted administrative remedies, Misselwitz does not need to. Misselwitz provides no analysis or authority for this position. A "lack of

⁵ *Jones* also does not address the issue of exhaustion of administrative remedies, and as discussed, Misselwitz's failure to exhaust administrative remedies is fatal to his alleged LUPA claims.

- 20 -

reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration." <u>Joy v.</u> <u>Dep't of Labor & Indus.</u>, 170 Wn. App. 614, 629, 285 P.3d 187 (2012).

Additionally, the language of LUPA and relevant case law contradicts this position. In particular, the language used throughout the statute is specific to one person. "Another person aggrieved . . . a person is aggrieved when the decision is likely to prejudice that person . . . that person's asserted interests . . .a judgment in favor of that person . . . the petitioner has exhausted his or her administrative remedies." RCW 36.70C.060 (emphasis added). "Legislative choice of words must mean something." Shen-Yen Lu v. King County, 110 Wn. App. 92, 100, 38 P.3d 1040 (2002). Furthermore, because the "doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies is well established in Washington," if the Legislature intended to allow vicarious or delegated appeals by other aggrieved parties, some clear expression of the intent would have likely appeared in the statute. See Ward, 86 Wn. App. at 271. The person specific language within the LUPA statute does not support Misselwitz's argument. LUPA confined—not expanded—the category of nonowners eligible to seek judicial review. Id. Misselwitz has no standing, and as a result, the superior court's dismissal as to him should be affirmed.

3.4 Thompson Lacks Standing Because He Has Not Demonstrated He Is Prejudiced by the Land Use Decision.

3.4.1 An Injury-in-Fact Is Required to Demonstrate Prejudice.

Standing to bring a land use petition is limited to an aggrieved person. RCW 36.70C.060(2). A person is aggrieved or adversely affected only when all of the four conditions enumerated within the statute are present: (1) the land use decision has prejudiced or is likely to prejudice that person; (2) that person's asserted interests are among those the City was required to consider; (3) a judgment in favor of that person would eliminate or redress the prejudice to that person caused or likely to be caused by the land use decision; and (4) the petitioner exhausted his administrative remedies to the extent required by law. <u>Id</u>. "A LUPA petitioner must establish facts supporting standing." <u>Lauer v. Pierce County</u>, 173 Wn.2d 242, 254, 267 P.3d 988 (2011) (citing RCW 36.70C.070(6)).

To demonstrate prejudice, a petitioner must allege specific and perceptible harm. The prejudice requirement of the LUPA standing provision is comparable to the prejudice requirement in the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"), chapter 34.05 RCW. <u>Suquamish Indian Tribe v. Kitsap County</u>, 92 Wn. App. 816, 829, 965 P.2d 636 (1998). The APA prejudice requirement codified the basic principle of the "injury-in-fact"

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